CASE NO. 2007-CA-01402

IN THE SUPREME COURT For The State of Mississippi

W.D. RUSSUM

Appellant

vs. UNITED PLUMBING & HEATING COMPANY Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT - W.D. RUSSUM

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Thomas W. Prewitt Mississippi Bar Not Kenneth M. Heard Mississippi Bar No. 102246 Post Office Box 2327 Madison, Mississippi 39130 Telephone: (601) 427-2327

ATTORNEY'S FOR APPELLANT W.D. RUSSUM

March 20, 2008

CASE NO. 2007-CA-01402

IN THE SUPREME COURT For The State of Mississippi

W.D. RUSSUM Appellant vs. UNITED PLUMBING & HEATING COMPANY Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue presented to the Court for review is as follows:

I. Whether the Chancery Court erred in granting summary judgment on all of Mr. Russum's claims and dismissing Mr. Russum's claims with prejudice.

Issues presented within the main issue are:

- A. Whether United and the Subcontractors, by improperly placing liens of record and filing a Notice of *Lis Pendens* claiming a right to Mr. Russum's property, clouded his property, and if so, whether they could escape the consequences therefore because they claimed that their interests paralleled the rights of a duly authorized Examiner in the bankruptcy proceeding?
- B. Whether the Court erred when it ruled that Mr. Russum was required to demonstrate actual malice before he could recover damages even though the notice of construction lien filed by United and the Subcontractors was admittedly false?

When the Trial Court concluded as a matter of law that the filing of the construction liens and *lis pendens* were protected as <u>privileged</u> communications made in <u>"ongoing litigation"</u>, did the Court err?

Whether the Court erred when it limited the time during which Mr. Russum may have been damaged to eight days in September, 2006?

Whether the Court erred when it disregarded Mr. Russum's claims for statutory damages and did not otherwise make any findings of fact or conclusions of law to support Dismissal of his claim for statutory damages?

- F. When the Trial Court concluded that Mr. Russum was not entitled to attorneys' fees and costs, even though he had to file suit to have an improper *lis pendens* removed, and that 5 1/2 months of litigation ensued before that *lis pendens* was voluntarily removed, did the Court err?
- G. When the Trial Court did not grant Mr. Russum's Motion to Dismiss United and the Subcontractors' Counterclaim, even though it denied the remedy sought in that Counterclaim, did the Court err?

Ε.

Jury J.

Malice

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

This is appeal from a Summary Judgment granted United and the Subcontractors even though they filed an improper construction lien and then an improper *lis pendens* which created improper clouds on the title to the property of Mr. Russum.

Mr. Russum filed his Verified Petition and Complaint for Injunctive Relief and Other Relief on September 22, 2006 alleging, among other things, that United and the Subcontractors were improperly clouding the title to his Rankin County real estate and seeking damages for slander of that title and for the statutory damages identified in Miss. Code Ann. §85-7-201 (1972 & Supp. 2003), (Vol.1,R.3-38; R.E. 4).

They answered (Vol.1,R. 39-47; R.E.5) justifying their actions by alleging that Wee Care was in bankruptcy, and that Mr. Russum's Rankin County property was "the subject of a claim to rightful ownership by (Wee Care) which was and is in bankruptcy" and that they "had a right to protect their interests in the assets of the Bankruptcy Estate as being sources of funds to satisfy claims duly processed with the Bankruptcy Court" (Vol.1,R.45; R.E.5). They also filed a Counterclaim requesting attorney's fees and costs on the basis of an alleged violation of the Mississippi Litigation Accountability Act of 1988, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-5 (1)(Supp. 1999) (Vol.1,R.44-47; R.E.5).

Mr. Russum filed his Motion to Dismiss (Vol.1, R. 49-52). In due course, the Lower Court denied the Counterclaim, did not grant Mr. Russum's Motion to Dismiss but did deny "all other motions and prayers for relief not previously ruled upon." (Vol. 3, R. 359, R.E. 1).

United and the Subcontractors sought to stay the proceedings pending the outcome of proceedings in Bankruptcy Court involving Wee Care (Vol. 1, R. 61-66) and during the hearing on that motion (Tr. 3-26), they agreed to cancel the *lis pendens*, which they had previously been unwilling to do (Tr. 25-26) and it was cancelled on February 16, 2007(Vol. 1, R. 85-87).

On May 22, 2007, the Chancellor heard United's and the Subcontractors' Motions to Dismiss (Tr. 28-63) and the Lower Court denied those motions with prejudice (Vol. 1, R. 91-93).

On June 8th, 2007, United and the Subcontractors filed their Motions for Summary Judgment (Vols. 1& 2, R. 94-283; R.E. 6) asserting that the Bankruptcy Court had invested them with the necessary authority to file the *Lis Pendens* by observing that "as the 'Construction Claimants', (United et al). . . have got a right to have the corporate funds preserved and spent properly" (Vol. 1, R. 95; R.E. 6). However, the Bankruptcy Court had not then nor did it ever grant them specific authority to take any action on behalf of the bankruptcy estate (Vol. 3, R. 354-357; R.E. 8).¹

Mr. Russum filed his Response to the Rule 56 Motion on June 18, 2007 (Vols. 2 & 3, R. 284-357, R.E. 7). A hearing on those motions was conducted on June 19, 2007 (Tr. 64-121) during which the learned Chancellor, after making oral findings of fact, concluded as a matter of law that no genuine issues of material facts were present and that United and the Subcontractors were entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and granted Summary Judgment against all of Mr. Russum's claims. The Chancellor's findings and conclusions are the subject of this appeal.

¹A full discussion concerning United and the Subcontractors' misplaced reliance on the Bankruptcy proceedings are found on pgs. 30-35 of this Brief.

On July 16th, 2007, the Final Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice was entered incorporating the findings and conclusions made during the June 19th, 2007 hearing (Vol. 3, R. 358-359; R.E. 2).

On August 14th, 2007, Mr. Russum filed his Notice of Appeal from the Court's Final Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice dated July 16th, 2007 (Vol. 3, 360-361; R.E. 10).

B. <u>Mr. Russum's Statement of the Facts</u>

A more detailed identification of the parties and certain non parties is required.

1. The players and the property

Mr. Russum owned real property in Rankin County, Mississippi and he also is the sole stockholder of Wee Care Child Care Center, Inc. ("Wee Care") which he placed in voluntary bankruptcy in the summer of 2004 (Tr. 110; R.E. 3). Wee Care and United Plumbing, Inc. ("United") entered into a construction contract, effective in the spring of 2003, which required United, as the general contractor, to build a child day care center for Wee Care on property owned by Wee Care in Byram, in the 2nd district of Hinds County (Vol. 1, R. 5; R.E. 4)(Vol. 2, R. 294; R.E. 9)(Tr. 110; R.E. 3). United subcontracted some of that work to the Subcontractor appellees, here.

No one made any allegation designed to pierce the Wee Care corporate veil.

2. Wee Care once owned the Rankin County property

i

Prior to 1999, Wee Care, previously had an interest in Mr. Russum's Rankin County property, but transferred that interest back to him via a Corrected Quitclaim Deed (Vol. 2, R. 232-233; R.E. 10), in 1999. Mr. Russum had purchased the entire Rankin County property individually much earlier than 1999, and had transferred the property to Wee Care to be used as additional collateral; on a Wee Care loan (Vol. 3, R. 295; R.E. 9). This was

not the loan related to the construction of the Wee Care facility on the Wee Care property in the 2nd district of Hinds County. Once Wee Care no longer had the need to use the Rankin County property as collateral, Wee Care transferred the property back to Mr. Russum (Vol. 3, R. 295; R.E. 9).² This 1999 transfer predated the voluntary bankruptcy for Wee Care by 5 years and the execution of the Wee Care/United contract by 3 years.

Wee Care's prior record ownership of the title to the Rankin County property was the fuel which allegedly primed United's and the Subcontractors' pump since they, and later the Bankruptcy Examiner, asserted that the transfer by Wee Care to Mr. Russum in 1999 failed for want of adequate consideration and was therefore fraudulent. As noted, this transfer predated the initiation of the bankruptcy proceedings by 5 years!

3. United and the Subcontractors performed their work for Wee Care on the Second District Property

All of the work United and the Subcontractors performed related to the 2nd District of Hinds County Project for Wee Care and they did not perform any work at or related to Mr. Russum's Rankin County property (Vol. 1, R. 5-6; R.E. 4)(Vol. 2, R. 294; R.E. 9). Neither United nor any of the Subcontractors had ever performed any work for Mr. Russum and had never had a contract with Mr. Russum (Vol. 2, R. 294; R.E. 9).

4. <u>A dispute arose and a lawsuit was filed</u>

While the work was being performed on the Wee Care property in Hinds County, disagreements arose and Wee Care terminated the United Contract (Vol.1, R. 6; R.E. 4). One subcontractor subsequently sued United's payment bond surety in the County Court

² The validity of the transfer is not germane to this appeal, but the issue of United and the Subcontractors's use of it under the auspices of the Bankruptcy Court in order to cloud Mr. Russum's property is pertinent. Mr. Russum was never personally "in bankruptcy".

of Rankin County and United and the Subcontractors joined in naming Wee Care and Mr. Russum as Defendants (Vol. 1, R. 6, 19-32; R.E. 4). That lawsuit was then transferred to the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi,(the 2nd District or the Hinds County litigation) and all of the claims in that litigation involved Wee Care's construction project (Vol. 1, R. 6; R.E. 4).

5. The Hinds County litigation doesn't have a thing to do with the Rankin County Property

Neither United nor any Subcontractor has ever alleged in that 2nd District litigation or elsewhere that they were entitled to, had any right in or claimed an interest in Mr. Russum's Rankin County property. In fact, none of them even claimed any interest in the Hinds County property(Vol. 1, R. 19-32; R.E. 4)(Vol. 2, R. 294; R.E. 9). The Complaint in the 2nd District litigation doesn't even mention the Rankin County property.

The Construction Lien statute, Miss. Code Ann. §85-7-131 (1972 & Supp. 2003), extends its benefits only to <u>those who have performed work for the owner of the property</u> <u>on the property itself</u> (Emphasis added). Since United did not have a contract with Mr. Russum and had never worked for him on his Rankin County property, neither of those prerequisites existed then or ever!

Addressing United's and the Subcontractors' claims against Mr. Russum on the Wee Care project, the Circuit Judge ruled that he was not personally liable to them (Vol. 2, R. 295; R.E. 9).

6. United filed a notice of a construction lien in Rankin County

On June 9, 2006, United filed a "Statutory Notice of Construction Lien" in the Land Records' Construction Liens Book in Rankin County (Vol. 2, R. 228-233; R.E. 10) claiming a construction lien against "W.D. Russum/ Wee Care" in the amount of \$690,000.00 (Vol. 2, R. 228-233; R.E.10) and identified Mr. Russum's Rankin County property as the property to which the lien was addressed.³ As previously noted, however, United never had a contract with Mr Russum and had not performed work for him on his Rankin County property (Vol. 2&3, R. 294-295; R.E. 9).

The \$690,000 claimed lien amount was based solely upon United's claim against Wee Care allegedly arising under Miss. Code Ann. §85-7-131 (1972 & Supp. 2003), for breach of contract claims (Vol. 2, R. 228; R.E. 10). United's professed entitlement to a lien is represented on the lien document to have arisen out of a "suit filed in Hinds County 2nd District" (Vol. 2, R. 228; R.E. 10) which is the lawsuit described in ¶'s 4 & 5 above, the Complaint for which is attached to Mr. Russum's Verified Complaint as an exhibit (Vol. 1, R. 19-32; R.E.4).

During a hearing, United and the Subcontractors acknowledged that the construction lien contained some "technical irregularities" (Vol. 1, R. 100). Since United had never performed work on the property involved and never had a contract with the

³ Attached to the Notice was a description of Mr. Russum's Rankin County Property (Vol. 2, R. 229-231; R.E. 10), along with the February 2nd, 1999 Corrected Quitclaim deed discussed on page 2 above (Vol. 2, R. 232-233; R.E. 10).

owner of the property involved to perform any work related to the property, the "irregularities" were more than "technical". They were devastating and should have destroyed its viability.

7. United and the Subcontractors file <u>a lis pendens notice in Rankin County</u>

Mr. Russum vigorously protested the existence of the construction lien against his property. So, on September 5, 2006, United's counsel advised Mr. Russum's lawyer that the Notice of Construction Lien had been cancelled (Vol. 2, R. 217); however, United's counsel neglected to say that on the same day, only moments after the construction lien had been removed, United and the Subcontractors, had replaced the improper construction lien with a *Lis Pendens* Notice which was itself filed in the land records in Rankin County (Vol. 2, R. 225-227; R.E. 11). Because they were required to identify the lawsuit in which claims to the subject property were being made, United and the Subcontractors falsely represented that they were entitled to a *lis pendens* based upon the pending 2nd District lawsuit stating:

the filing and pendency of the following claim or suit in the County Court of Rankin County, Mississippi, in Cause No. 2004-604, was filed November 29, 2004 and subsequently transferred to the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, Cause No. 2005-31 for which this Notice need be filed in the *Lis Pendens* Notice Book of Rankin County, Mississippi...(Vol. 2, R. 225; R.E. 11).

Reference to that lawsuit was manifestly wrong since the Rankin County property was not involved in any way and since they were not claiming any right to or interest in the Rankin County property in that lawsuit! Then, when the form required them to state the "basis/nature of the claim, lien, right and/or interest" which they asserted to Mr. Russum's Rankin County property, they magnified the wrong by falsely representing to the world that their right to a *lis pendens* arose from a:

Civil suit for damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 85-7-131 et seq., for which a lien has been recorded, and 85-7-181 et seq., for which stop payments have been served, and other applicable law and equity, against Defendants for the wrongful termination/removal from the construction project, the failure to pay monies due and owing, wrongful withholding of construction funds, and related claims as more fully set forth in aforesaid Complaint...(Vol. 2, R. 226; R.E. 11).

The litigation in the 2nd District of Hinds County had absolutely nothing to do with any such assertion of or any claim of a right and their statement that it did is an outright falsehood.

Further, they also justified their right to a *lis pendens* by <u>referring to the construction</u> <u>lien which had been voluntarily removed only moments earlier</u>, (Vol. 2, R. 217)(Emphasis added).

Mr. Russum, of course, objected (Vol. 2, R. 215-216).

8. The *lis pendens* had its desired effect. It prevented a sale of the Rankin County property

United et al were informed that their *lis pendens* was interfering with sale of the Rankin County property (Vol. 2, R. 216). The fact that Mr. Russum was injured by United and the Subcontractors as a result of the improper filing of the Statutory Notice of Construction Lien and *Lis Pendens*, is beyond dispute although the Lower Court disregarded that proof (Vol. 2, R. 298-299; R.E. 9). Those damages include:

- Mr. Russum had a contract to sell the land but the buyers backed out when they discovered the *lis pendens* filed by the appellees (Vol. 3, R. 298; R.E. 9), a copy of the contract is provided (Vol. 3, R. 349-352);
- 2. Having Uniteds' and the Subcontractors' *lis pendens* on record cost Mr. Russum several hundred thousand dollars (Vol. 3, R. 299; R.E. 9);
- 3. Mr. Russum had to reduce his contract price for the sale of the property (Vol. 3, R. 299; R.E. 9);
- 4. Mr. Russum was denied use of the sale proceeds for a long time (Vol. 3, R. 299; R.E. 9); and,
- 5. Mr. Russum had to incur additional costs in the Rankin County Chancery Court and in the Bankruptcy Court (Vol. 3, R. 299; R.E. 9).

The Subcontractors justified the *lis pendens* "... by virtue of the pursuit of their various claims both in state court and in the Wee Care bankruptcy matter" (Vol. 2, R. 211-212) and then refused to remove it. They voluntarily removed the *lis pendens* in February 2007 "given that the bankruptcy examiner's [*lis pendens*] " had been filed (Tr. 25). In other words, because they were creditors in Wee Care's bankruptcy, they said that they were entitled to pursue Mr. Russum on behalf of the bankrupt's estate.

9. Wee Care's Bankruptcy did not provide a legitimate platform for any of United's or the Subcontractors' activity

As discussed later, the learned Chancellor made several findings of fact and conclusions of law having as a basis activities in Wee Care's bankruptcy. Yet, Marc C. Brand, an experienced bankruptcy lawyer and active in Wee Care's bankruptcy proceeding, provided expert testimony establishing that they had no right to do anything

on behalf of the bankrupt's estate (Vol. 3, R. 354-357; R.E. 8). His affidavit testimony was

neither challenged nor objected to nor was it the subject of a motion to strike but was

simply ignored.

His testimony alone was sufficient to create genuine issues of obviously material

facts and demonstrated that United and the Subcontractors were not entitled to judgment

as a matter of law. Mr. Brand testified that:

- 1. Judge Ellington (the Bankruptcy Judge) did not authorize [United and the Subcontractors] to take any action [or right to protect the assets of the bankruptcy estate] in any court and if such authority had been granted, it would have been in the court records and was not (Vol. 3, R. 355; R.E. 8);
- 2. Creditors don't have the authority, without being specially authorized by the Bankruptcy Court, to act for the bankrupt's estate and that there is no record of any delegation of any such authority to United et al(Vol. 3, R. 356; R.E. 8);
- 3. Neither United nor the Subcontractors were ever appointed Examiner, did not become a Creditors Committee and were not the Bankruptcy trustee (Vol. 3, R. 356; R.E. 8);
- 4. On July 11,2006, the Bankruptcy Court granted the Examiner power to file any complaint that it deemed necessary concerning claims predating Wee Care's bankruptcy and therefore from July of 2006, United and the Subcontractors knew that they had not been so appointed (Vol. 3, R. 356; R.E. 8); and,
- 5. He could not locate any authority that United et al possessed to file a construction lien and/or any *lis pendens* "in anticipation of the later action of an Examiner and/or Trustee" (Vol. 3, R. 356-357; R.E. 8).

Thus, this uncontested testimony proved to a certainty that United et al did not enjoy

the privileges, rank and authority which the Chancellor subsequently found that they

possessed (Emphasis added).

The Wee Care bankruptcy proceedings are still pending.

10. <u>They knew that the Examiner was the one to act</u>

In fact, United and the Subcontractors represented to the Chancellor that:

we needed [the *lis pendens*] in place until we could get the bankruptcy examiner actually appointed by the Court,...[and] [w]e couldn't get an examiner appointed immediately, so we took a step of getting a *lis pendens* filed and then pursued getting the examiner appointed to pursue this property [s]o the *lis pendens* was necessary at the time (Tr. 24-25).

Thus, they acknowledged that the Examiner was the one to file the *lis pendens* if one was to be filed. Additionally, the representation that "we needed [the *lis pendens*] in place until we could get the bankruptcy examiner actually appointed by the Court..." was false since the docket revealed that the Examiner had been appointed and given power to act earlier, significantly earlier, than September 5th when they filed their *lis pendens* (Vol. 3, R. 354-357; R.E. 8)! Mr. Brand's unchallenged testimony was that the examiner was appointed with the necessary power on July 11, 2006 (Vol. 3, R. 356; R.E. 8). Thus, when they filed the *Lis Pendens* in September, they knew that the Examiner had already been granted the authority to file the lawsuit!

The Chancellor disregarded these misrepresentations, as well as others, and instead crafted a previously unknown remedy.

There were two other *lis pendens* but because he had deals with them, they didn't present an obstacle to Mr. Russum

The Examiner filed a *lis pendens* Notice on September 13, 2006 (Vol. 2, R. 207-210) which was two plus months after United filed its construction lien on June 9th, 2006 and days after the United *lis pendens* was filed; however, the Examiner's *lis pendens* was not a problem for Mr. Russum and did not damage him because he and the Examiner both wanted the proceeds of the sale of the Rankin County property to be made available to the bankruptcy estate⁴ and not just to United! Mr. Russum testified without objection and without contradiction that:

Mr. Russum and the Examiner had an understanding that if the land was to be sold, that the Examiner and Mr. Russum would agree on some figure for the sales price to place in escrow until the Examiner's argument with Mr. Russum was resolved (Vol. 3, R. 298; R.E. 9).

The record reveals that Am South also had filed a *lis pendens* but it was likewise no problem for Mr. Russum since he also had a deal with it. Mr. Russum also had an understanding with the bank that if the land sold, AmSouth would agree to a figure to put in escrow until the dispute and differences in opinion as to AmSouth's entitlement to the proceeds was determined (Vol. 3, R. 298; R.E. 9). Notwithstanding this uncontradicted evidence, the Chancellor found the contrary as a fact and then this finding formed the basis of its conclusion that Mr. Russum was not damaged because of the existence of these *lis pendens* (Tr. 103-104;Tr. 116-117,R.E.3).

12. <u>Waiting 5 months to remove the *lis pendens* was malicious</u>

The Trial Court found that:

on September the 5th, 2006, the defendants filed their *lis pendens* notice, ...[and] that eight days later the examiner likewise filed a *lis pendens* notice in the records of the Chancery Clerk of Rankin County, Mississippi... that the *lis pendens* filed by the defendants in this case was removed five months and ten days after it was filed(Tr. 113; R.E. 3).

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