### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO. 2007-CA-01402

W.D. RUSSUM

**APPELLANT** 

v.

UNITED PLUMBING & HEATING COMPANY, INC., PRICE'S GLASS & MIRROR CO., INC., JAMES THOMAS, CARR PLUMBING SUPPLY INC., RICKY JACKSON, TOMMY MEADOWS, PRECISION CEILING LLC, AND RONNIE DEFOREST

**APPELLEES** 

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF RANKIN, COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

William W. Fulgham, Esq. Mississippi Bar No. WILLIAM W. FULGHAM, PLLC 533A Keyway Drive P. O. Box 321386 Flowood MS 39232 Telephone: (601) 932-9710

Facsimile: (601) 932-9712

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The learned Chancellor was manifestly correct in granting the unsecured creditors' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Plaintiff's Complaint was dismissed upon a complete failure to bring forth probative evidence of either malice or knowledge on the part of the Creditors of the inoperability of their filings. Not only were their filings not known to be inoperable, but the Bankruptcy judge even found that they indeed possessed the very right that they had been proceeding to protect: "...to have the corporate funds preserved and spent properly."

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Summary Judgment is appropriate and should be granted when the "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." M.R.C.P. Rule 56(c). The summary judgment process focuses the parties and the court on the question of whether disputes of relevant fact exist that need to be tried, or only disputes of relevant law for which there need be no trial. Cook v. Stringer, 764 So.2d 481, 482 (Miss. App. 2000).

Pursuant to Rule 56, the entry of summary judgment is mandated when, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, a party:

...fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. In such a situation, there can be "no genuine issue as to any material fact," since a complete failure of proof necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. The moving party is "entitled to judgment as a matter of law" because the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she had the burden of proof.

Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 678, 683 (Miss, 1987).

When analyzing a motion for summary judgment, the court:

looks at all the evidentiary matters before it--admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If, in this view, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor. Otherwise, the motion should be denied.

Mantachie Natural Gas Dist. v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co., 594 So.2d 1170,1172 (Miss. 1992). Faced with a motion for summary judgment, a nonmoving party may not rely upon mere allegations and averments; rather, the nonmoving party must bring forth probative evidence upon which to show the genuine issues of material fact exist, the resolution of which in its favor may form the proper basis for relief.

- B. The Trial Court Was Correct In Finding A Complete Failure Of The Plaintiff To Produce Evidence to Support his Claims on Liability or Damages.
  - 1. Complete Lack of Evidence to show (a) Malice and/or (b) knowing falsity or inoperability.

As correctly stated by the Trial Court, in order to prevail on his claims for slander of title, Russum must have proven "the malicious filing for record of an instrument known to be inoperative and which disparages the title of land." (T. at 69.)

The Plaintiff also argues that he could have prevailed upon his claim for "statutory damages" distinct from his claim for slander of title. However, he acknowledges that the statute on which he bases such a claim also requires a showing of knowing falsity "without just cause". Appellant's Brief at pg. 41.

Upon a complete failure of proof on the part of Russum, and in the face of voluminous evidence submitted by the Creditors showing the foundation for their belief in their right to file

the notices at issue, if not proving the existence of that right or interest, the Trial Court was well-founded in dismissing the Complaint with prejudice.

As set forth in their Statement of Facts, at the time Russum demanded that the notices at issue be cancelled, citation was made and forwarded to his attorney of the relevant authorities and holdings of the Mississippi Supreme Court showing that the Defendants herein did not have to accept his version of the "truth" and had a right to pursue their interest. (R. at 211).

Further, Russum, as well as the Creditors, were fully aware of the fact that he had authorized his attorney to file suit essentially against himself on behalf of his solely owned, operated, and controlled company, Wee Care. (R. at 192). As stated above, that suit expressly alleged that Russum had fraudulently transferred the Flowood property in question from his company's name to his known name. Russum was also aware of his own sworn testimony that (a) he and his company's records with respect to the land had "walked in the same path"; and (b) that he paid no money to his company when he transferred the approximately million-dollar parcel of property to his individual name.

In response to the Creditors' Motion for Summary judgment, Russum filed his own Affidavit as well as that of his personal Bankruptcy attorney, Marc Brand. With respect to the Affidavit of Mr. Brand, rather than set forth factual knowledge, offers statements in the nature of expert opinion on the law, which the Chancellor was not obligated to follow.

As for the Affidavit of Mr. Russum, no facts were established upon which it could be found (a) that the Creditors acted with malice or (b) that the Creditors knew their notices to be inoperable. The majority of his Affidavit appeared not to contain factual, personal knowledge, but rather consisted of his version of the procedural history and characterizations, or mischaracterizations, of the legal positions of the Creditors. The extent of Russum's Affidavit touching upon the required elements of his claims, being malice and knowing falsity on the part

of the Creditors, consisted of the following:

(7) I don't understand how the Defendants can legitimately contend that they had a right to file a lis pendens covering my Rankin County real estate when they had never sued me in any court saying that they had an interest in or claim to that property, had never performed any work on that property, had never had a contract with me and in the only case in which they had ever sued me, the Court said I had no liability to them."

R. at 294-95. As a threshold matter, this statement is patently false as the Creditors had filed Notices of Claim in the Bankruptcy matter, and Russum was admittedly aware of the Creditors' bankruptcy filings.

To the point of the inquiry, however, it can hardly be argued that the Creditors' filings were knowingly false or inoperable when the right/interest they believed they had would later be confirmed by the Bankruptcy Judge. Even had that not been confirmed, this statement by Russum only shows his inability or unwillingness to "understand" the Creditors' position; his self-professed lack of understanding, or even incredulity, does not equate to proof of the Creditors' (a) malice or (b) knowing falsity, both of which must have been shown for him to prevail on his claims. No genuine issue of material fact was brought forth, and summary judgment was proper.

Neither could Russum show that he could have suffered any damages pursuant to the filings of notices by the Defendants herein. As of the time of the first filing by United, on June 9, 2006, AmSouth Bank already had a Lis Pendens Notice filed in the land records of the Chancery Clerk of Rankin County on April 13, 2006. As mentioned previously, the Examiner would also follow the lead of the Creditors by filing his own lis pendens eight (8) days after their own. Thus, Mr. Russum's claims that the Defendants filings prevented him from selling his land cannot be sustained. Nor will equity countenance a claim for damages that could have only been the product of an attempt to beat a lawfully appointed Examiner to the punch by selling land that

he knew to be the subject of a fraudulent conveyance suit outstanding against him.

Thus, Russum wholly failed to produce evidence to show malice or that the Creditors knew their filings to be inoperable, particularly in the face of evidence showing that they were armed with legal authority when they refused to cancel their notice. (R. at 211). His failure of proof continued with respect to the ability to show damages which equity could reward. As such, the granting of summary judgment and dismissal of the Complaint with prejudice was wholly proper.

# 2. Case law Supports failure of proof on the required elements and establishes entitlement to the judicial proceeding privilege.

On March 21, 2007, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi removed Mr. W. D. Russum from his position of control over his company, Wee Care Child Care Center, Inc., due to his misappropriation of corporate assets for personal uses, and appointed a trustee to control Mr. Russum's business. (R. at 112). Upon so doing, the Court ruled that the Defendants/Counter-Plaintiffs in the instant matter, referred to by the Bankruptcy Court as the "Construction Claimants", "...have got a right to have the corporate funds preserved and spent properly." (R. at 111).

The Bankruptcy Court's ruling came at the end of a long process to protect the assets of Mr. Russum's company after he placed it in bankruptcy. This process was instituted by the Defendants/Creditors herein, and included the filing of the notices which are the subject of the Plaintiffs' Complaint.

Mississippi case law in matters very similar to the one at hand expressly provides protection for parties such as the Creditors below. In the case of <u>Dethlefs v. Beau Maison</u> <u>Development Corporation</u>, 511 So.2d 112 (Miss. 1987), the Mississippi Supreme Court found that:

Certain communications published in due course of a judicial proceeding are absolutely privileged and will not sustain an action for slander of title. Firstsouth's theory of recovery on slander of title was that by filing lis pendens notices, Dethlefs prevented Firstsouth from being able to sell the land. The lis pendens notice was a privileged communication and therefore not actionable for slander of title. The chancellor expressly found that Dethlefs had a right to assert her interest in the underground pipe, although he expressed great displeasure with the manner in which she proceeded to protect her interest. Since Dethlefs had a valid right to have her case decided, her filing of lis pendens notice cannot be slander of title. [Emphasis added; internal citations omitted.].

Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Development Corporation, 511 So.2d 112, 117 (Miss. 1987).

The Court went on to further analyze the question and, citing to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals case of Sellers v. Grant, 196 F.2d 677 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1952), Mississippi Supreme Court stated further:

In <u>Sellers v. Grant</u>, Plaintiff refused to remove a lis pendens notice after plaintiff was advised by the defendant as to the truth of the facts. The district court held that since plaintiff was not required to accept the defendant's version, but was entitled to have the lawsuit adjudicated on <u>sworn testimony</u>, then plaintiff was not liable to defendant for slander of title. The same rule applies to the instant case.

Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Development Corporation, 511 So.2d at 117.

In both the <u>Dethlefs</u> and <u>Sellers v. Grant</u> cases, the parties in the position of the Defendants herein, who had filed notices against real property, eventually *lost* on the issue of whether they had a claim against the land in question therein. However, the courts still found that they had a right to pursue their claims against the land, and have the opposing party's claims tested on evidence. Further, their right to file notices against the real property in order to protect their right to pursue claims against the property without it being sold out from the reach of the courts, was deemed to be *absolutely privileged* by the Mississippi Supreme Court in the <u>Dethlefs</u> case and to be "the exercise of reasonable care and sound judgment" by "[the party] and his attorney" by the Fifth Circuit in the <u>Sellers v. Grant</u> case. See <u>Dethlefs v. Beau Maison</u> Development Corporation, 511 So.2d at 117; Sellers v. Grant, 196 F.2d at 680.

In the instant matter, the Creditors have (a) been found by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Bankruptcy Court, to have a right to protect their claims against the land; and (b) they have actually prevailed in having Russum execute a demand note secured by the very Flowood property in question.

Given the extensive history set forth *supra* regarding the bankruptcy matter and the Defendants' actions with respect to the Flowood property therein, including the filing of notices against the Flowood property, only a brief citation will be made to the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, which further undergirded the Creditors' right to protect their interests in the fraudulently conveyed property. Mississippi has passed and codified the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, found at Section 15-3-101, et seq., (see also Section 11-5-75) and the same was argued before the Trial Court at the hearing of the Creditors' Motion for Summary judgment. (T. at 88-90.). The rights of United and the subcontractors to take the actions they have taken are also protected by this Act, which parallels the remedies available to them in the Bankruptcy action. As argued to the learned Chancellor, the Defendants need not have pursued duplicitous actions to accomplish the same goal. However, either their Bankruptcy claims or a suit in Chancery Court under the Act would have afforded the right to pursue recovery of fraudulently conveyed property, such as the real estate which was at issue before the Trial Court.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The learned Chancellor was manifestly correct in granting the unsecured creditors' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Plaintiff's Complaint was dismissed upon a complete failure to bring forth probative evidence of either malice or knowledge on the part of the Creditors of the inoperability of their filings. Not only were their filings not known to be inoperable, but the Bankruptcy judge even found that they indeed possessed the very right that they had been proceeding to protect: "...to have the corporate funds preserved and spent

properly." Accordingly, the granting of summary judgment and dismissal of the Plaintiff's Complaint by the Trial Court should be upheld, with costs of appeal awarded to the Appellees.